IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,	
Plaintiff-Appellee,	
V.	S.CT. NO. 18-1877
DAIRRAMEY MOORE,	
Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR CLINTON COUNTY HONORABLE MARY HOWES, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

SHELLIE L. KNIPFER
Assistant Appellate Defender
<u>sknipfer@spd.state.ia.us</u>
<u>appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us</u>

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. NO ONE SAW MOORE POSSESS A GUN LET ALONE FIRE A GUN. WHETHER THE CASE AGAINST MOORE FOR INTIMIDATION WITH A DANGEROUS WEAPON WITH INTENT AND RECKLESS USE OF A FIREARM IS MERELY SPECULATIVE?

Authorities

Iowa R. App. 6.907

State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Torres, 495 N.W.2d 678, 681 (Iowa 1993)

State v. McCullah, 787 N.W.2d 90, 93 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Jorgensen, 758 N.W.2d 830, 834 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)

In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 1075, 25 L.Ed.2d 368, 375 (1970)

State v. Thomas, 561 N.W.2d 37, 39 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Barns, 791 N.W.2d 817, 823 (Iowa 2010)

II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT CANNOT DETERMINE MOORE HAS THE ABILITY TO PAY ATTORNEY FEES, COURT COSTS, AND CORRECTIONAL FEES BEFORE THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION IS DETERMINED?

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Cooley, 587 N.W.2d 752, 754 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Morris, 858 N.W.2d 11, 14 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Thompson, 856 N.W.2d 915, 918 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647, 648 (Iowa 1987)

Walters v. Grossheim, 525 N.W.2d 830, 832 (Iowa 1994)

Iowa Code § 910.5(1) (2017)

State v. Storrs, 351 N.W.2d 520, 522 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Kaelin, 362 N.W.2d 526, 528 (Iowa 1985)

Iowa Code § 815.9(5) (2017)

Iowa Code § 910.2(1) (2017)

State v. Sallis, No. 17-1842, 2019 WL 325019, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 23, 2019)

State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 45 (Iowa 2001)

III. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING A MANDATORY MINIMUM SENTENCE IN COUNT I PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE SECTION 902?

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Ayers, 590 N.W.2d 25, 27 (Iowa 1999)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

State v. Thomas, 547 N.W.2d 223, 225 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Lee, 561 N.W.2d 353, 354 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Lyke, No. 16-1473, 2017 WL 3067421, at 3 (Iowa Ct. App. July 19, 2017)

Iowa Code § 902.7 (2017)

Iowa Code § 901.10(1) (2015)

State v. Sandifer, 570 N.W.2d 256 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the court of appeals because the issues raised involve applying existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal by the defendant-appellant, Dairramey C. Moore, from the judgment and sentence following appellant's convictions for the offenses intimidation with a dangerous weapon with intent in violation of Iowa Code section 708.6 (2017) (Count I) and reckless use of a firearm in violation of section 724.30(3) (2017) (Count III). The Honorable Patrick J. McElyea presided over the trial and the Honorable Mary Howes presided over sentencing in Clinton County District Court.

Course of Proceedings in the District Court: On May 22, 2018, Moore was charged by trial information with the offenses intimidation with a dangerous weapon with intent in violation of Iowa Code section 708.6 (2017) (Count I), going armed with intent in violation of section 708.8 (2017) (Count II),

and reckless use of a firearm in violation of section 724.30(3) (2017) (Count III). (Trial Information, 5/22/18)(App. pp. 4-6).

A jury trial commenced August 13, 2018. Moore moved for judgment of acquittal which was denied by the district court. (Tr. p.177 L.25-p.178 L.7, p.179 L.16-p.181 L.5). The motion was renewed at the close of the case and again denied. (Tr. p.203 L.4-17). The district court accepted the jury's verdict of guilty as to intimidation with a dangerous weapon with intent (Count I) and reckless use of a firearm (Count III), and verdict of not guilty as to going armed with intent (Count II). (Jury Trial Order, 8/15/18)(App. pp. 9-10).

No posttrial motions were filed.

On September 27th, Moore appeared in open court, with counsel, and was adjudged guilty of intimidation with a dangerous weapon with intent in violation of Iowa Code section 708.6 (Count I) and reckless use of a firearm in violation of section 724.30(3) (Count III). (Probation Revocation & Sentencing, 9/27/18)(App. pp. 11-14). For intimidation with a dangerous weapon with intent, Moore was sentenced to 10

years and fined \$1000. The fine was suspended. (Id. at 1) (App. p. 11). A five year mandatory minimum was also imposed. (Id. at 1)(App. p. 11). For the office reckless use of a firearm, Moore was sentenced to two years and fined \$625, the fine was suspended. (Id. at 1)(App. p. 11). In addition, Moore's probation was revoked in the matters of FECR073196 and AGCR073031. (Id. at 1-2)(App. pp. 11-12). After doing so the district court ordered Moore to pay up to \$2,500 in court-appointed attorney fees. (Id. at 2)(App. p. 12). Moore was also ordered to pay the costs of the actions, correctional fees, all other applicable surcharges, fees, and assessments deemed appropriate by the clerk of court. (Id. at 2)(App. p. 12).

Notice of appeal was timely filed. (Notice, 10/23/18) (App. p. 15).

Facts: On April 26, 2017, Moore and Zachary Broders wanted some beer but did not have sufficient money on them to buy beer at the bar. (Tr. p.40 L.19-25). Alan Wulf, who resided at 830 13th Avenue South, Clinton, owed money to each of them. (Tr. p.41 L.9-p.42 L.4). Broders was wearing a hat,

vest, and jeans. (Tr. p.42 L.8-11). Moore was wearing a hoodie and pants. (Tr. p.42 L.12-13).

Moore and Broders parked in the alley behind the house. (Tr. p.42 L.14-16). At the back door a woman came out, saw Moore, and gave him a hug and Moore told her he was looking for Wulf. (Tr. p.42 L.19-22). While Moore and the lady talked, Broders walked around. (Tr. p.43 L.8-15). Looking through a window on the side of the house, Broders saw a man (not Wulf) with some women. (Tr. p.43 L.16-p.44 L.6).

Broders returned and told Moore Wulf was not there so they should just leave. (Tr. p.44 L.9-12). Moore went and looked through the side window. (Tr. p.44 L.13-16). Broders returned to his car and started texting. (Tr. p.44 L.17-24). As he was texting he heard "some pops" that sounded like gun shots and ducked down. (Tr. p.44 L.21-p.45 L.3). When Broders looked up he saw shots coming from the windows of the house and Moore running away. (Tr. p.45 L.3-11, p.47 L.12-22). He thought he saw three "fireballs" come out of the window. (Tr. p.47 L.23-25). He was unsure of how many

shots he heard, maybe three or four. (Tr. p.48 L.1-4). Broders locked his doors and drove off. (Tr. p.45 L.5-13).

Broders testified he did not see Moore with a weapon let alone fire any weapon. (Tr. p.48 L.5-8, p.49 L.18-19). Nor did Broders have any contact with Moore after the shooting. (Tr. p.48 L.13-14). In fact, they did not see each other for a "long time" after the shooting. (Tr. p.48 L.13-14).

Tammy Oberdorf-Long was living at 830 13th Avenue
South on April 26th. (Tr. p.51 L.7-11). At that time Tom
Molitor and Wulf also lived at 830 13th Avenue South. (Tr. p.51 L.12-15). That night just before midnight the three of them were present along with three others: a woman named Sam,
Fabio, and Shonna. (Tr. p.52 L.2-3). Oberdorf-Long heard the others talking about a problem with Moore, so she started watching the monitors in Wulf's room on the first floor. (Tr. p.52 L.4-19, p.59 L.22-23).

Oberdorf-Long testified she observed:

them walking up the side of the house with a couple other people that were out back then I heard somebody yell "get down" and I wasn't sure what was going on till I heard the gun being shot.

(Tr. p.53 L.22-p.54 L.1). Oberdorf-Long hit the floor behind a chair. (Tr. p.54 L.4-7). She did not think any shots were fired from the inside of the house. (Tr. p.55 L.1-8, p.60 L.22-25). Oberdorf-Long did not see who shot at the house. (Tr. p.56 L.8-12, p.60 L.18-21). But she testified the shots came from the east, which was the other side of the living room. (Tr. p.56 L.13-16).

Wulf testified he had security cameras scattered around his property to protect against thefts. (Tr. p.62 L.7-19; Ex. 60 (location of 5 security cameras)). Wulf claimed that on April 26th he returned home and was told someone, who was unhappy with him, was outside and wanted to talk to him. (Tr. p.63 L.16-23, p.66 L.1-4). He claimed not to know who the person was or why he wanted to talk to him. (Tr. p.63 L.23-24). Wulf said he only knew Broders in passing and he did know Moore. (Tr. p.63 L.25-p.64 L.6, p.71 L.3-4).

Wulf claimed after he was made aware of a possible issue, he "remembered hearing like a gun cocked at some point. You know, the sound of a round being chambered, and I kind of yelled to get down." (Tr. p.64 L.25-p.65 L.5). Initially, Wulf could not remember how many shots were fired, (Tr. p.65 L.5-7), but later he testified he thought maybe nine shots were fired. (Tr. p.67 L.2-4). And because the windows were open, he could not tell whether the shots were from the inside or outside. (Tr. p.65 L.8-19). He did see a silhouette of a person through a window to the outside. (Tr. p.65 L.20-22). Wulf never reviewed the security camera footage. (Tr. p.71 L.13-14).

Wulf claimed that he did not see anyone in the house fire a gun or even possess a gun. (Tr. p.66 L.13-20p.69 L.5-10).

Clinton Police Captain Joseph Raaymakers was dispatched April 26th to 826, 830, and 834 13th Avenue South. (Tr. p.72 p.9-21). The 830 13th Avenue South house had multiple bullet holes through the east window. (Tr. p.76 L.12-p.77 L.3; Exs. 6 (front 830), 7 (east window))(Ex. App. pp. 4-5). On the east side of 830 13th Avenue South, officers found seven 9 millimeter shell casings by the pink stucco wall. (Tr. p.78 L.19-p.79 L.18, p.81 L.15-21; Ex. 10 (7 markings for shell

casings))(Ex. App. p. 6). Just inside the window was a TV that was shot. (Tr. p.112 L.1-11; Ex. 27 (830 living room & TV))(Ex. App. p. 8).

East of 830 13th Avenue South is 826 13th Avenue South. (Tr. p.83 L.11-18, p.93 L.9-15). On the exterior west wall there were at least two bullet holes and possibly three bullet fragments. (Tr. p.85 L.5-p.87 L.4; Ex. 33 (west wall close-up of 826) (Ex. App. p. 9). The two bullet holes exited into the interior of the house. (Tr. p.86 L.1-25; Ex. 36 (interior 826 two bullet holes))(Ex. App. p. 10). A bullet fragment was found on the kitchen floor. (Tr. p.90 L.14-23; Ex. 38 (fragment on kitchen floor 826))(Ex. App. p. 11). Another fragment was found in the dining room. (Tr. p.92 L.2-22; Ex. 40 (fragment on dining room))(Ex. App. p. 12). Raaymaker believed that bullets were fired from 830 13th Avenue South into 826 13th Avenue South. (Tr. p.116 L.6-p.117 L.17; Ex. 36 (interior 826 two bullet holes))(Ex. App. p. 10). But no shell casings were collected from inside 830 13th Avenue South. (Tr. p.117 L.18-20).

Raaymaker next went to investigate the residence at 834 13th Avenue South which also reported their house had been Facing 830 13th Avenue South, 834 was to the left, or the (Tr. p.93 L.16-20; Ex. 45 (834 13th Avenue South))(Ex. App. p. 15). On the west side of 830 13th Avenue South was a window with a fan. (Tr. p.93 L.21-p.94 L.25; Exs. 43 (window with fan), 44 (close up of window with fan))(Ex. App. pp. 13-14). In the lower left corner was a bullet hole and another in the (Tr. p.94 L.16-19, p.95 L.19-24). The bullet fragments discussed earlier were on the *opposite* side of 830 13th Avenue South. (Tr. p.94 L.1-4). The fan was in the window to Wulf's bedroom where all the surveillance monitors were. (Tr. p.111 L.6-14; Ex. 26 (Wulf's room))(Ex. App. p. 7).

The side of 834 13th Avenue South facing 830 13th Avenue South had a bullet lodged in the siding. (Tr. p.97 L.19-21, p.102 L.16-p.103 L.4; Ex. 47 (east side of 834 bullet hole by window))(Ex. App. p. 16). There was also a bullet hole in the window casing damaging the blinds. (Tr. p.97 L.22-p.98 L.9; (Exs. 48 (east side of 834 bullet hole in window casing), 49 (close

up exhibit 48), 52 (close up of damaged blinds))(Ex. App. pp. 17, 18, 20). There was damage to the opposite wall indicating the bullet bounced off the wall. (Tr. p.101 L.2-p.102 L.7). A projectile was found a few feet into the living room and marked "31". (Tr. p.100 L.11-23; Exs. 51 (living room of 834 13th Avenue South), 54 (bullet hole above couch & marker 31))(Ex. App. pp. 19, 21). Also on the wall, higher and closer to the picture was a bullet fragment mark likely from the bullet marked 31. (Tr. p.102 L.8-15).

Raaymaker believed that two bullets fired from the east side of 830 went through the window, missed the TV, through the living room, then the bedroom, through Wulf's bedroom window, and into the side of 834 13th Avenue South. (Tr. p.118 L.4-p.119 L.18). No bullets or fragments were found inside 830 13th Avenue South. (Tr. p.119 L.19-p.120 L.3).

Surveillence Video

Clinton Sergeant John Davis collected the surveillance equipment. (Tr. p.139 L.8-25, p.142 L.21). He did note the stated screen time was one hour behind and the day was off by

one. (Tr. p.139 L.14-p.140 L.23).

At 11:43 Wulf entered the back door. (Tr. p.147 L.13-21; Ex. 61 (1a 10:43), (1b 10:43)). Wulf talked to a woman known as Melissa Hartman, who officers were not able to locate during the investigation. (Tr. p.148 L.7-19). At 11:45, Moore and Broders appear at the backdoor of the house. (Tr. p.176 L.16-p.177 L.6; Ex. 61 (1a 10:45)). Moore was wearing a hooded sweatshirt and Broders was wearing a cap on backwards and sunglasses. (Tr. p.153 L.20-p.154 L.6). At 10:47 Broders peeked around the corner. (Tr. p.151 L.14-p.152 L.9; Ex. 61 (2a 10:47)). Broders actually goes all the way to the front of the house and peeks around the front corner. (Tr. p.155 L.16-p.156 L.6; Ex. 61 (3a 10:48:11)).

At 11:49, Moore and Broders walk along the east side towards the front of the house. (Ex. 61 (2a 10:49)). Moore's right hand was in his pocket, but his left hand was not. (Tr. p.150 L.19-p.151 L.2; Ex. 61 (1a 10:49)). Davis theorized that Moore had a gun because his hand was in his pocket. (Tr. p.150 L.25-p.151 L.2). But Broders testified that it was

extremely cold that night so it was not out of the ordinary to have one's hands in his or her coat pockets. (Tr. p.49 L.18-21).

At 11:50 Broders walked back to the alley. (Tr. p.158 L.17-p.159 L.1; Ex. 61 (1a 10:50)). Moore was not with him. Moore did not appear in the front surveillance camera. (Tr. p.160 L.17-p.161 L.3; Ex. 61 (3a 10:52)). Davis concluded that Moore was just outside of the view of the eastside camera (2) at the time of the shooting. (Tr. p.161 L.19-p.162 L.5). But at 11:51 he comes back in view of the eastside camera running to the alley. (Tr. p.13 L.1-7; Ex. 61 (2a 10:51)). Davis admitted that no gun was observed even though both hands were out of Moore's pockets. (Tr. p.169 L.18-p.170 L.7; Ex. 61 (2a 10:51:36-41)). In fact, no gun was seen in any of the videos. (Tr. p.170 L.4-5, p.172 L.10-19).

Davis testified that the shots coming from the east side of 830 13th Avenue South could have been fired within eight to ten seconds or even less if it was an automatic weapon. (Tr. p.172 L.20-p.173 L.5). Davis hypothesized the shots from inside 830 were fired shortly after shots were fired into 830. (Tr. p.172

L.6-15).

Moore's Testimony

Moore testified he and Broders went to get money owed them from Wulf. (Tr. p.184 L.20-24). Hartman answered their knock at the back door. (Tr. p.185 L.2-12). Moore explained they wanted to see Wulf to get their money owed to them. (Tr. p.185 L.14-16). Hartman texted Wulf. (Tr. p.185 L.14-24). Then Hartman told Moore, Wulf was not coming out and then she left. (Tr. p.186 L.1-2).

Moore testified he then went around to the east window where Broders was talking to Fabian through the open window. (Tr. p.186 L.2-10, p.197 L.13-16). As they tried to negotiate for their money, a man known as "Tango" came up and started arguing with Wulf. (Tr. p.186 L.15-20, p.199 L.1-12). The argument started to escalate and then Tango and people in the house started firing guns. (Tr. p.186 L.19-22). Moore ran towards Broders' car and kept on running up the alley. (Tr. p.186 L.22-p.187 L.1).

Any further facts relevant to the appeal will be discussed

in the argument below.

ARGUMENT

I. NO ONE SAW MOORE POSSESS A GUN LET ALONE FIRE A GUN. THE CASE AGAINST MOORE FOR INTIMIDATION WITH A DANGEROUS WEAPON WITH INTENT AND RECKLESS USE OF A FIREARM IS MERELY SPECULATIVE.

Preservation of Error: Error was preserved by defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal and the district court's denial thereof. (Tr. p.177 L.25-p.178 L.7, p.179 L.16-p.181 L.5, p.203 L.4-17). Defendant denied being the person who fired the gun into 830 13th Avenue South. (Tr. p.178 L.1-7).

Scope of Review: A motion for judgment of acquittal is a means for challenging the sufficiency of the evidence. This court reviews sufficiency of evidence claims for a correction of errors at law. Iowa R. App. 6.907; State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012). The jury's finding of guilt will not be disturbed if there is substantial evidence to support the finding. State v. Torres, 495 N.W.2d 678, 681 (Iowa 1993). Substantial evidence is evidence that would convince a rational

trier of fact the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. McCullah, 787 N.W.2d 90, 93 (Iowa 2010) (quoting State v. Jorgensen, 758 N.W.2d 830, 834 (Iowa 2009)). evidence must at least raise a fair inference of guilt as to each element of the crime. Id. at 93. The ultimate burden is on the State to prove every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which a defendant is charged. State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)(citing In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 1075, 25 L.Ed.2d 368, 375 (1970)). The record is viewed in the light most favorable to the State. Torres, 495 N.W.2d at 681. This court considers all the evidence in the record, not just the evidence supporting the finding of guilt. Id. Evidence which merely raises suspicion, speculation, or conjecture is insufficient. McCullah, 787 N.W.2d at 93; State v. Thomas, 561 N.W.2d 37, 39 (Iowa 1997).

Merits: The issue here is whether there was sufficient evidence to support Moore's convictions for intimidation with a dangerous weapon with intent in violation of Iowa Code section 708.6 (Count I) and reckless use of a firearm in violation of

section 724.30(3) (Count III). Interestingly, Moore was acquitted of going armed with intent in violation of Iowa Code section 724.30(3) (Count II). Moore's defense was simply he was not the shooter and did not even possess a firearm.

Both intimidation with a dangerous weapon with intent and reckless use of a firearm require the use of a dangerous weapon/firearm. In order to find Moore guilty of intimidation with a dangerous weapon with intent, the State had to prove:

- 1. On or about the 26th day of April, 2018, the *defendant shot a firearm*: at a building which was occupied by another person.
- 2. A firearm is a dangerous weapon, as explained in Instruction No. 23.
- 3. Another person actually experienced fear of serious injury and his/her fear was reasonable under the existing circumstances.
- 4. The defendant shot the dangerous weapon with the specific intent to injure or cause fear or anger in another person.

(Instr. No. 15 (marshaling intimidation))(App. p. 7).

In order to prove Moore guilty of reckless use of a firearm, the State had to prove the following elements:

- 1. On or about the 26th day of April, 2018, the defendant intentional[ly] discharged a firearm.
- 2. He did so in a reckless matter; and
- 3. Property damage occurred due to the discharge of the firearm.

(Instr. No. 21 (marshaling reckless use of firearm))(App. p. 8).

There was no evidence that Moore even possessed a firearm. No one ever saw Moore with a firearm. Even Moore's friend Broders, who was with him throughout the evening, did not see Moore with a firearm. (Tr. p.48 L.5-8, p.49 L.18-19). The police speculated that Moore had a firearm because his hand was in his pocket. But Broders testified that it was extremely cold that night so it was not out of the ordinary to have one's hands in his or her coat pockets. (Tr. p.49 L.18-21).

Further, when Moore was running from the scene, both hands were out of his pockets. There was no weapon in either hand. No weapon was ever found. So if Moore was the shooter, then the weapon had to leave with him. However, he was not holding a weapon as he fled. It seems unlikely in the midst of gun fire that a person would stop, conceal his weapon,

and then flee the scene. Quite the contrary, if someone was firing shots at you, you immediately run holding whatever was in your hands at the time.

In the same line of argument, there was no testimony by anyone who actually saw Moore fire a weapon. Broders was with Moore, but back in his car. He testified he did not see Moore fire a weapon. Neither Wulf nor Oberdorf-Long, who were in the house, testified to seeing Moore with a weapon. (Tr. p.56 L.8-12, p.60.18-21; p.64 L.25-p.65 L.5). And none of the residents east and west of 830 13th Avenue South saw Moore fire a weapon.

Moore's conviction was based upon his mere presence at the scene. There must be something more than mere presence at a crime scene. State v. Barns, 791 N.W.2d 817, 823 (Iowa 2010) ("mere presence at the time and place of the crime" is not enough to prove guilt). The evidence in the present case does not go beyond mere speculation. The evidence was insufficient to prove Moore guilty of intimidation with a dangerous weapon and reckless use of a firearm.

Moore's convictions should be reversed.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CANNOT DETERMINE MOORE HAS THE ABILITY TO PAY ATTORNEY FEES, COURT COSTS, AND CORRECTIONAL FEES BEFORE THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION IS DETERMINED.

Preservation of Error: The general rule of error preservation is not applicable to void, illegal, or procedurally defective sentences. State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994). Review of sentencing is properly before this court upon direct appeal despite the absence of objection in the trial court. State v. Cooley, 587 N.W.2d 752, 754 (Iowa 1999).

Scope of Review: This court reviews a restitution order for abuse of discretion. State v. Morris, 858 N.W.2d 11, 14 (Iowa 2015). "When the district court exercises its discretion on grounds or for reasons that were clearly untenable or unreasonable, an abuse of discretion occurs." State v. Thompson, 856 N.W.2d 915, 918 (Iowa 2014). This court will reverse when an abuse of discretion occurs. Id. "When reviewing a restitution order, we determine whether the court's

findings lack substantial evidentiary support, or whether the court has not properly applied the law. Statutory construction is reviewed for correction of errors at law." Morris, 858 N.W.2d at 14 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

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