IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 18-1877

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

DAIRRAMEY MOORE,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR CLINTON COUNTY
THE HON. PATRICK A. MCELYEA & MARY HOWES, JUDGES

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LINDA J. HINES
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
linda.hines@ag.iowa.gov

MIKE WOLF
Clinton County Attorney

AMANDA MYERS
Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. **There was Sufficient Evidence to Support Moore’s Convictions of Intimidation with a Dangerous Weapon and Reckless Use of a Firearm.**

Preservation of Error

The State agrees Moore preserved error on this issue by moving for a judgment of acquittal on the basis that the State had failed to prove he possessed and used a firearm and by obtaining the district court’s ruling on his motion. Trial Tr. p. 177, line 25-p. 178, line 7, p. 179, line 16-p. 181, line 5. *See State v. Schories*, 827 N.W.2d 659, 664 (Iowa 2013), as corrected (Feb. 25, 2013) (noting “that in order to preserve error on a motion to acquit, the defendant must specifically identify the elements for which there was insufficient evidence”).

Standard of Review

Review of a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is on assigned error. *State v. McPhillips*, 580 N.W.2d 748, 753 (Iowa 1998). The reviewing court will uphold the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal if there is substantial evidence in the record to support the defendant’s conviction. *Id.* at 752. Substantial evidence is evidence that could convince a trier of fact that the defendant is guilty of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Crone*, 545 N.W.2d 267, 270 (Iowa 1996). In determining whether

there is sufficient evidence, the court considers all the evidence. *State v. Robinson*, 288 N.W.2d 337, 340 (Iowa 1980). However, the court views the evidence in a light most favorable to the State and makes all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence.

McPhillips, 580 N.W.2d at 752.

Merits

Moore argues the State failed to present sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he fired any shots on April 26, 2018; therefore, it failed to prove him guilty either of intimidation with a dangerous weapon or reckless use of a firearm.

It is true that the surveillance video does not show Moore in possession of a gun and no witness testified to seeing Moore with a gun. However, the video, together with other evidence, lead to the inescapable conclusion that Moore must have had a gun and must have been the person who fired shots into 830 13th Avenue immediately prior to the deluge of 911 calls at 11:53 p.m. on April 26, 2018.

The evidence established that Broder, the only person other than Moore who was known to be outside on the east side of 830 13th Avenue, walked away from the side of the house at approximately

11:50 p.m., several minutes prior to when the first call of shots fired was received by the Clinton Communications Center. Trial Tr. p. 160, line 23-p. 161, line 8, State's Exhibit 61. Broder testified he was sitting in his car when he saw Moore running toward him. Trial Tr. p. 45, lines 3-5. This testimony is confirmed by the video evidence. State's Exhibit 61. Additionally, Broder denied having a gun. Trial Tr. p. 49, lines 16-21.

Moore's testimony was self-serving, and his exculpatory statements are not supported by any other witness. He admitted what he could not deny because of the video evidence and then explained that a person who is not seen on any camera was responsible for the shooting. Moore's claim that another person was outside after Broder left is belied by the video evidence demonstrating no one approached the house during the relevant time frame. Trial Tr. p. 163, line 10-19; State's Exhibit 61.

Moreover, Moore's hands were in his pockets when he is seen on camera except when he is running away from the east side of 830 13th Avenue and then it is unclear whether he has anything in his hands. State's Exhibit 61. The jury could reasonably reject Moore's testimony about Tango and find that he fired a gun outside the east

window of 830 13th Avenue. *See State v. Anderson*, 517 N.W.2d 208, 211 (Iowa 1994) (jury is “free to reject certain evidence, and credit other evidence”).

Given the unmotivated witnesses who were present on April 26, 2018, at a known drug house, as well as the absence of any other person outside the east window of the house at the time shooting, and the timing of Moore running away from the house and the 911 calls, the State proved that it was Moore who possessed a firearm and shot it at 830 13th Avenue beyond a reasonable doubt.

II. The District Court Has Not Filed a Final Order of Restitution; Therefore, There Exists No Appealable Order.

Preservation of Error

“[E]rrors in sentencing may be challenged on direct appeal even in the absence of an objection in the district court.” *State v. Lathrop*, 781 N.W.2d 288, 293 (Iowa 2010). However, “any temporary, permanent, or supplemental order regarding restitution is not appealable or enforceable until the court files its final order of restitution.” *State v. Albright*, 925 N.W.2d 144, 162 (Iowa 2019). Because the restitution order is not final, Moore may not appeal the district court’s ruling.

Standard of Review

“[R]eview of a restitution order is for correction of errors at law.” *State v. Klawonn*, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004). The appellate court “determine[s] whether the court's findings lack substantial evidentiary support, or whether the court has not properly applied the law.” *State v. Bonstetter*, 637 N.W.2d 161, 165 (Iowa 2001).

Merits

In *State v. Albright*, 925 N.W.2d 144, 160 (Iowa 2019), the Supreme Court “clarified that a plan of restitution is not complete until the sentencing court issues the final restitution order.” Only when the full amount of restitution is known “shall the court make an assessment as to the offender’s reasonable ability to pay.” *Albright*, 925 N.W.2d at 162.

Here, the district court ordered Moore to pay \$2,500 in court-appointed attorney fees, as well as “costs of these actions including restitution for correctional fees, if any, and all other applicable surcharges, fees and assessments as deemed appropriate by the Clerk of Court, including the \$125 LEI surcharge[.]” It did not issue a final restitution order. Probation Revocation & Sentencing Order; App. 11.

Therefore, the district court did not know the final amount of restitution due and could not make a determination of Moore's reasonable ability to pay.

There is no appealable order of restitution. *Albright*, 925 N.W.2d at 162.

III. If the District Court Failed to Exercise Its Discretion to Determine Whether to Reduce Moore's Mandatory Minimum Sentence, the Error Was Harmless Where There Were No Mitigating Circumstances.

Preservation of Error

"[E]rrors in sentencing may be challenged on direct appeal even in the absence of an objection in the district court." *Lathrop*, 781 N.W.2d at 293.

Standard of Review

The appellate court reviews the district court's sentencing decision for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Adams*, 554 N.W.2d 686, 692 (Iowa 1996). To show an abuse of discretion the defendant must demonstrate that the decision was based on clearly untenable grounds or reasons or that the court exercised its discretion to an extent clearly unreasonable. *Id.* Sentencing decisions are cloaked with a strong presumption in their favor. *State v. Thomas*, 547 N.W.2d 223, 224 (Iowa 1996).

Merits

“When a sentence is not mandatory, the district court must exercise its discretion in determining what sentence to impose.”

Thomas, 547 N.W.2d at 225. Moore contends the district court abused its discretion by failing to exercise it in imposing sentence.

The district court had no discretion in ordering Moore serve an indeterminate term of imprisonment not to exceed ten years upon his conviction of intimidation with a dangerous weapon, a forcible felony. *See* Iowa Code § 907.3. Pursuant to Iowa Code section 902.7, because Moore used a dangerous weapon in committing a forcible felony, the district court was required to order Moore to serve a five-year mandatory minimum sentence. However, as Moore notes, the district court was not completely without discretion.

Section 901.10(1) provides that when a person is convicted for the *first time* under Iowa Code section 902.7, the district court may “sentence the person to a term less than provided by the statute if mitigating circumstances exist and those circumstances are stated specifically in the record.” Moore asserts that the record establishes both that it was his first conviction under section 902.7 and that the

district court was unaware it had discretion to impose a lesser sentence pursuant to Iowa Code section 901.10(1).

At the beginning of the sentencing hearing, the State indicated the district court was required to sentence Moore to a ten-year term of imprisonment and to serve a minimum of five years. Sentencing Tr. p. 3, lines 12-19. Moore's counsel agreed that there was not "*much* wiggle room here." Sentencing Tr. p. 4, lines 9-10 (emphasis added).

In imposing sentence, the district court explained:

Well, I've reviewed the presentence investigation report, and as I mentioned, you were found guilty of these counts by a trial by jury. And the law, as the attorneys commented, requires incarceration because it's a forcible felony under the code section done by the legislature.

And, also, there is a reason for that, which is it was a dangerous situation, and so the safety of the community in a dangerous situation would also warrant incarceration.

So under Count I, under 708.6, intimidation with a dangerous weapon with intent, a Class C felony, the Court sentences you to an indeterminate term of ten years with the Iowa Department of Corrections.

Oakdale will be your receiving center that the Clinton County sheriff will deliver you to. And based on a weapon being used, under 902.7, the Court sentences you to a mandatory minimum of five years before you're eligible for parole or discharge.

Sentencing Tr. p. 5, lines 6-24.

The district court should be “afford[ed] the strong presumption of regularity” because the appellate courts “great confidence in judges to exercise their discretion appropriately.” *State v. Swenka*, No. 13-1821, 2014 4631364 at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 17, 2014) (citing *State v. Sailer*, 587 N.W.2d 756, 764 (Iowa 1998)). Here, Moore’s defense counsel did not assert the district court had no discretion, he said it did not have “too much wiggle room.” Sentencing Tr. p. 4, lines 9-13. Moreover, the district court itself did not indicate any limitation to its discretion and a district court in general is “not require[ed] [] to note the absence of mitigating circumstances every time it declines to apply section 901.10.” *State v. Russian*, 441 N.W.2d 374, 375 (Iowa 1989). The lack of evidence showing the district court believed it had no discretion does not militate a conclusion that it did not properly exercise its discretion.

However, if the appellate court finds that the district court failed to exercise discretion, the failure was harmless. *State v. Wooten*, No. 18-0023, 2018 WL 6706223, *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 19, 2018) (error was harmless where district court mistakenly believed it did not have any discretion but to sentence defendant to

imprisonment). “Under a harmless-error analysis, [the Court] presume[s] prejudice and reverse[s] unless the record affirmatively establishes the defendant suffered no prejudice.” *Id.*

“Mitigating circumstances” are not enumerated in section 901.10(1). However, sections 901.10(2) and (3) only mention mitigating circumstances in the form of a guilty plea and cooperation with the prosecution. Neither of these factors is present in this case. Moreover, on appeal Moore does not contend that there exist any mitigating circumstances.

Additionally, at the time of Moore’s sentencing, the district court found he had violated his probation in cases FECR073196 and AGCR073031 and revoked it. Because the district court ordered Moore’s sentence in a case AGCR073031 to run consecutively to his concurrent sentences in FECR075580, it is improbable the district court would have found mitigating circumstances to warrant a reduction in the five-year mandatory minimum of section 902.7.

CONCLUSION